

























































































learning” regarding math, reading, written language, speech, ABLLS-R, ADOS-2, asking whether
Dr. Johanna Higgins (“Dr. Higgins”) could perform those additional assessments. (Exs. 139-140)
Saldierna testified OPS could not approve Dr. Higgins to perform those parts of the evaluation
because “the rule states that the -- we have to use the same criteria for assessments that we use
internally. And we -- our BCBAs are not — they’re not involved with any assessments or
evaluations outside of conducting FBA and then helping to write of it. They don’t conduct any --
any additional assessments.” (Tr. Vol. II, 95:2-96:8; Ex. 1 at 006.071). She explained, internally,
OPS had psychologists, speech language pathologists, educational diagnosticians, occupational
therapists, and physical therapists perform other parts of the evaluations. (Tr. Vol. II, 95:13-17)
Dr. Higgins is not a psychologist. (Tr. Vol. I, 274:24-25)

On June 13, 2024, Amanda Lindsay (“Lindsay’) from MMI emailed Saldierna, stating, “I
got a call from the mother of - .. stating that you have approved an [EE. Can you please
send me the authorization letter?” (Ex. 145) Saldierna provided the authorization letter on June 20,

2024. (Ex. 146) On July 11, 2024, Lindsay emailed -

At this time, we do not have a psychologist that is available to do this evaluation,
so you will need to choose another agency for psychological testing. We are able
to provide PT, OT and speech therapy, so please let me know if you would like to
schedule those services at MM, or if you would like another agency to do the entire
evaluation.

(Ex. 31)

On July 15, 2024,-emailed Saldierna about the email from Lindsay, saying: “I am
going to reach out to Boys Town to try to get the rest of the IEE done for- In the meantime,
though, can we go ahead and schedule a meeting with the Childhood Autism Services evaluator to
discuss the results of the FBA in the spring?” (Ex. 38) Saldierna responded OPS would not agree

to meet “until the full evaluation is complete.” (Ex. 38). Saldierna testified when the [EE was
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authorized in February, she assumed it would be complete by May; then during the summer when
she realized Petitioners were just now seeking the rest of the evaluation, she assumed it would be
complete by August. (Tr. Vol. II, 103:8-19)
On July 23, 2024, Saldierna emailed .n “individual from Boys Town called and left
a voicemail” saying he had “asked them to call [her] regarding information needed for-
[EP.” (Ex. 148) Saldierna said the individual had not left a name and the phone number they left
is not in service; she said, “[i]f there is someone you would like me to speak to, can you please
provide me with their name, contact information, and a signed release of information outlining
what information you would like me to share with them,” and attached a release form. (Ex. 148).
-jid not respond directly to this inquiry and never provided a signed release that would have
allowed Saldierna to talk to Boys Town about the IEE. (Tr. Vol. II, 101:0-15) Instead, he emailed
a couple weeks later to say he had “gotten confusing information” from Boys Town, adding, “I
think the problem is that OPS has not provided me with an initial authorization letter that [ can
provide to Boys Town in order to get on their schedule. I would welcome your help in getting this
started.” (Ex. 149).
Saldierna provided an authorization letter to-Tr. Vol. I, 101:25-102:7; Ex. 150).
-however, came back and asked for a more specific authorization letter listing the specific
evaluations-had requested and OPS had authorized back in April 2024. (Tr. Vol. I, 102:21-
103:10; Ex. 153). Saldierna provided the more specific authorization letter, even though OPS does
not typically include this level of information in the authorization letters “because evaluators are
able to decide with the family what the best assessments are to do, and we wouldn’t want to restrict

them in any way.” (Ex. 151; Tr. Vol. 103:17-20, 105:21-106:9)
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Saldierna testified the email and lists of providers she sent-on February 5, 2024,
was a “typical” response to IEE requests. (Tr. Vol. II, 88:3—6) She also testified the “typical”
process is for the parent to reach out to a provider, like MMI, and for the provider to contact
Saldierna for an approval letter. (Tr. Vol. II, 98:20-23, 104:13-23) She has never had any
difficulties getting IEEs scheduled in a timely manner similar to those -has reported in
scheduling an IEE for-(Tr. Vol. IT 88:18-22). In November 2024, OPS again offered to
have an OPS psychologist compléte an evaluation of-and provided -with a consent
form. (Tr. Vol. IJ, 93:17—21).-never responded to either of OPS’s requests for consent to
evaluate -(Tr. Vol. 1, 94:4-18; Tr. Vol. Il, 93:14-24) Despite Saldierna providing
additional providers, Petitioners only reached out to CAS, Dr. Higgins, MMI, and Boys Town.
(Tr. Vol. I, 89:13-90:23) The only evaluation -has received since- requested an [EE
back in February 2024 is the FBA and BIP performed by Tejral. (Tr. Vol. [, 104:2-6)

J. Hearing Officer’s Second Stay Put Order m-November 2024 IEP

In September 2024 and again in October 2024, OPS reminded_annual IEP

was due in October and suggested scheduling an IEP meeting; -refused. (Tr. Vol. 1, 104:7-

15, 104:22-24; Exs. 154, 155). On October 7, 2024, Petitioners filed a Second Motion for
Enforcement of Stay-Put Placement, seeking to preclude Respondent from holding an IEP team
meeting. (See Petitioners’ October 7, 2024 Motion; Tr. Vol., 123:25-124:6) Respondent opposed
the motion, and the Hearing Officer overruled it. (See Respondent’s Opposition to Second Motion
for Enforcement of Stay-Put Placement, submitted October 9, 2024; Order on Second Motion for
Enforcement of Stay-Put Placement, filed October 18, 2024; Tr. Vol. III, 123:25-124:6)
Accordingly,-IEP team held her annual IEP on November 4, 2024, which lasted several

hours. (Tr. Vol. I1, 199:24-200:11; Tr. Vol. 11, 128:9-25) -attended the IEP along with his
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attorney, Respondent’s counsel, Tejral, Saldierna, Tapper, Fell, Dixon, Martinelli, -
-grade general education teacher, and the Saddlebrook principal. (Tr. Vol. II, 200:12—
201:14; Tr. Vol. 111, 91:20-22, 128:9-25)

At the start of the meeting, a draft IEP was circulated so “everybody at the meeting could
fully participate and have something in front of them to refer to as [the team] went through and
discussed each section.” (Tr. Vol. III, 130:4-12; Ex. 156) During the meeting, the Saddlebrook
IEP team again asked -for his input. (Tr. Vol. I, 105:21-106:22) The team discussed

-support services, new and continued behaviors, her present levels of academic and
functional performance, and her progress at Saddlebrook. (Tr. Vol. II, 201:15-202:2) Some of the
new behaviors included “spitting on classroom materials.” (Tr. Vol. II, 201:15-202:2) The team
discussed -“appeared overwhelmed in the general education classroom™ with noise, sensory
input, and the structure of the environment, causing her distress. (Tr. Vol. II, 202:3-15; Tr. Vol.
[TI, 137:4-138:6) The team also discussed a continued concern regarding -eating habits.
(Tr. Vol. 11, 202:23-203:8; Ex. 157 at 6 (‘-dacl and the team also have a concern that

- is not eating or drinking during the school day.”)) Petitioners asked, through their attorney,
about the possibility of having-assigned more time in the resource room and less time in
the general education classroom. (Tr. Vol. I, 110:22—-109:3, Tr. Vol. III, 129:1-13; Ex. 160)

In -November 2024 draft IEP, the IEP team implemented Tejral’s FBA and
incorporated the vast majority of her recommended BIP. (Tr. Vol. [, 194:8—12) However, it did
not drastically change what the team was already doing for- (Tr. Vol. III, 94:8-96:25)
Martinelli, who helped Tapper rewrite the FBA and BIP in preparation for the IEP meeting,
testified the team was already “using a lot of prompts, a lot of mands, a lot of visuals.” (Tr. Vol.

I1I, 94:24-96:19) She felt Tejral’s input was “a helpful addition. But the staff was using a lot of
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these tools.” (Tr. Vol. III, 95:17-19; see Tr. Vol. 11, 78:3-80:25)

On November 7, 2024, Saldierna sen.an updated version of the IEP shared during
the meeting. (Tr. Vol. I, 107:9-18; Ex. 157) In her email, she explained, as she had at the meeting,
the OPS team was recommending ACP for [JJfout recognized it could not be implemented at
this time because of the Stay Put Order. (Tr. Vol. I, 107:19—-108:3; Tr. Vol. III, 129:14-23, 132:17-
138:2; Ex. 157) Instead, Saldierna proposed until the due process petition was resolved,-
service time would “take place in Special Instruction at Saddlebrook with the documented related
services we discussed.” (Ex. 157 at 2) Petitioners did not respond to OPS about the November
2024 1EP. (Tr. Vol. I, 108:4-7; Tr. Vol. 111, 133:3-5)

K. Evidence Presented (_Least Restrictive Environment

With the exception of Petitioners, most of the witnesses familiar with -testiﬁed ACP
was the appropriate placement or least restrictive environment for- Tapper, who has
worked with -since she started-at Saddlebrook and is trusted by Petitioners,
(Tr. Vol. 1, 70:7-11; Tr. Vol. II, 142:15-21, Tr. Vol. III, 11:2-6) testified she believed ACP was
appropriate fo.o she can receive all of the services and support she needs to be successful.
(Tr. Vol. 11, 48:19-49:3) Similarly, Dixon testified -has been making small steps toward
her goals, but her progress was insufficient to remain successful in a general education classroom.
(Tr. Vol. HI, 70:24-72:7) She agreed with the IEP team decision to place-in ACP because
“the gap was already widening where she still wasn’t, you know, starting to write words or letters”
and is still needing “more help with toileting, still needing help with all those fine motor things

that were difficult for her.”
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Gunderson, who has worked with -since kindergarten and was recognized at the
hearing as an expert witness with specialized knowledge in special education (Tr. Vol. II, 172:4—
19), testiﬁed- would benefit from ACP because “her work is required to be modified and
adapted”; she is “working on extended indicators from our -- our state standards”; and she
“requires a high level of reinforcement and adult support throughout her day in order to learn her
functional routines at school, to reinforce her receptive and expressive communication.” (Tr. Vol.
I1, 204:11-205:8) Gunderson said all of those things “can really be supported through” ACP. (Tt.
Vol. 11, 205:4-5) Moreover, Gunderson opined, with the amount of time -is currently
spending outside of general education, ACP is not necessarily a more restrictive environment; yet
ACP would provide greater structure than the resource room. (Tr. Vol. 1I, 227:7-228:11)

Saldierna, who was also recognized during the hearing as an expert witness with
specialized knowledge in education, also agreed that ACP is the most appropriate placement for

-(Tr. Vol. [1I, 114:12-17, 137:4-138:6) She explained how an IEP team might evaluate
-using a recent document created by the District “to support IEP teams as they work to
determine what the least restrictive environment is for specific student.” (Tr. Vol. III, 133:6-138:6;
Ex. 158) The document identifies various categories of characteristics to consider, such as
communication or self-help/self-care. (Ex. 158)-characteristics are most often in line with
those that would fall under considerations for ACP—things like requiring a significantly modified
curriculum and instruction; an inability to communicate wants and needs without significant aduit
support; needing constant adult support to use the toilet, eat, or navigate the school independently.
(Ex. 158) Saldierna explained because- is currently spending most of her time with a special
education teacher, is spending little time in general education, is not making progress at the same

rate as her peers, is exhibiting indications she is stressed and overwhelmed, needs a significant
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amount of assistance with restrooming, and cannot independently utilize her communication
device—"[a]ll of those things taken as a whole” indicate- “needs a separate classroom and
she needs something more restrictive on the continuum that [the District is] required to offer.” (Tr.
Vol. II1, 137:4-6)

Martinelli, who was recognized as an expert witness in school psychology, explained why
ACP was an appropriate placement even though -has not been verified as having a cognitive
or intellectual disability: “the data that we have collected over the last several years with the level
of support that she has received would indicate that that is appropriate for her and least restrictive.
The verification a student has does not drive placement or programs. We need to look at a student’s
needs to determine what is least restrictive for them educationally.” (Tr. Vol. II[, 87:10-14, 92:22—
93:8) Martinelli said the data shows ACP is appropriate for -because “she is performing
well below age peers in all areas, and that has been consistent over time.” (Tr. Vol. III, 93:9-13)
She also pointed out whil s “definitely gaining skills,” the gap between her skills and
those of her same-age peers “just gets bigger as time goes on.” (Tr. Vol. IIl, 93:14—17) Martinelli
also explained why a more recent evaluation was not necessary to the decision because OPS has
“an abundance of evidence and data that would support that [ACP] is a good fit for her.” (Tr. Vol.
I11, 93:18-23) She also explained why the DAYC-2 assessment conducted of-in 2018 does
not undermine the decision to plac.in ACP because “it is a developmental screener” and
“not predictive of future skills and abilities.” (Tr. Vol. III, 107:5-21) She expects, based on “the
skills that she is showing every day,” if-took the DAY C-2 today, it would rate her as being
“significantly delayed.” (Tr. Vol. 1II, 107:22—108:12) In Martinelli’s opinion, what ACP would
give -“that is difficult to replicate, even with all of the things that have been implemented

right now, would be an environment that is structured better to meet her learning needs”; staff “are
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trained and have experience with supporting those types of learning needs”; more “focus on
adaptive skills, which-is struggling with, as well as functional academics”; and “the
opportunity to be more independent.” (Tr. Vol. 11, 97:8-25)

Even Petitioners’ experts, who had limited knowledge about-provided testimony
supporting ACP as -east restrictive environment. Tejral observec-on only three
occasions for a total of about five hours. (Ex. 26; Tr. Vol. I, 143:15-19) She did not form an
opinion as to the appropriate setting -hould be taught behavior skills, and an assessment
of - academic functioning was outside her expertise. (Tr. Vol. I, 193:16-194:7)
Nonetheless, she agreed with OPS witnesses -does best in one-on-one teaching interactions.
(Tr. Vol. 1, 188:13-16) She observed-exhibited higher rates of interfering behavior when
she was not engaged, such as while watching an instructional video in a general education
classroom. (Tr. Vol. I, 188:21-7) Tejral observed OPS staff using behavior interventions with

-her recommendation was it could be done more consistently. (Tr. Vol. I, 191:21-192:1)
According to Tejral,- currently needs “in-the-moment prompting™ to teach replacement
skills and intensive instruction to address one-step instructions. (Tr. Vol. I, 192:7-9, 193:9-12)

Petitioners’ other expert witness, Dr. Higgins, is a BCBAD and a professor of special
education courses and courses in applied behavior analysis. (Tr. Vol. I, 199:11-202:4) She was
recognized during the hearing as an expert witness in the field of special education and autism.
(Tr. Vol. I, 202:9-16) She opined -EPS from February 2023 through October 2023 were
not reasonably calculated to enable her to make appropriate progress in light of her particular
circumstances, primarily because of what the IEPS said about how-behaviors would be
addressed. (Tr. Vol. I, 214:11-239:7) She opined -like any child with autism, is a good

candidate for intensive instruction involving ABA methodologies. (Tr. Vol. 1, 252:1-12) In her
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opinion, ABA is an essential component for all students with autism as part of their IEP or special
education program. (Tr. Vol. I, 265:4-7)

The only information Dr. Higgins had specific to -on which to base these opinions
were 11 records, including the three IEPs. (Tr. Vol. I, 206:4-208:10, 263:15-264:5) She never met

-never observed her, never watched videos of her, and never talked to her parents or

teachers. (Tr. Vol. I, 263:17-264:1) Dr. Higgins also had no knowledge about how- [EPs
were implemented. (Tr. Vol. I, 265:17-19) Dr. Higgins did a paper review and no direct
observation.

Dr. Higgins confirmed, though, that the best setting for-:urrent]y is “in a classroom
that’s not with typical peers for some, maybe even the majority of her day.” (Tr. Vol. I, 267:6-17)
She confirmed [l “needs a skill-based program that is developed for her that also addresses
her challenging behaviors.” (Tr. Vol. I, 267:20-24) She testified - needs a behavior
intervention plan wrapped into her academic program and one-on-one support most of the day.
(Tr. Vol. I, 269:25-270:6) Dr. Higgins also agreed-needs “a focus on increasing her
independence” so she can “potentially transition back into typical classrooms, to the extent
possible.” (Tr. Vol. I, 270:7-11) She testiﬁed-should have some access to typical peers,
such as on the playground or in gym class. (Tr. Vol. I,270:16-24) She said -needs a program
developed for her to be able to pay attention and independently complete activities. (Tr. Vol. I,
271:3-6) In Dr. Higgins’ opinion, .ould not effectively receive the intensive teaching she
needs “in a general education classroom if she was there all day. It would be difficult for her to
receive that type of program. Yes.” (Tr. Vol. I, 267:13-271:22) One reason is because-
challenging behaviors could be pretty disruptive in a general education classroom. (Tr. Vol. I,

271:18-22) Dr. Higgins had no first-hand knowledge about OPS’s ACP program, any training
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ACP teachers receive, or what resources might be available in an ACP classroom as compared to
what is available at Saddlebrook. (Tr. Vol. I, 271:23-272:25)

V.

ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The Hearing Officer makes the following conclusions of law and determinations as to
mixed questions of fact and law based on the stipulations of the parties made on the record and the
evidence presented during the hearing:

L. Burden of Proof

-have the burden of proof in this proceeding: “The burden of proof in an

administrative hearing challenging an IEP is properly placed upon the party seeking relief.”
Schaffer v. Weast, 546 U.S. 49, 62 (2005); see also Lathrop R-I1I School District v. Gray, 611 F.3d
419 (8th Cir. 2010) (“the burden of persuasion remains with Gray as the party challenging the

[EP”) (citing Sch. Bd. v. Renollett, 440 F.3d 1007, 1010-11 (8th Cir. 2006)).

M. -Least Restrictive Environment is ACP

A preponderance of the evidence presented at the hearing supports Respondent’s
determination in April 2023 that- LRE is in an ACP classroom. Based on the factual
record developed during the hearing, ACP was in April 2023, and remains as of January 2025, the
educational placement that will enable -to make meaningful progress toward reasonable
goals in light of her circumstances.-placemem in ACP therefore comports with the IDEA.

1. Applicable Legal Standards

The ultimate issue is whether a free appropriate public education (“FAPE”) has been
provided or made available to-By statute, an [EP developed for a child with disabilities

must set measurable annual goals for the child’s academic and functional progress and identify the
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The IDEA implementing regulations therefore provide for a “continuum of
alternative placements”—"instruction in regular classes, special classes, special
schools, home instruction, and instruction in hospitals and institutions™ to ensure a
school district can “meet the needs of children with disabilities for special education
and related services.” 34 C.F.R. § 300.115. The IDEA does not allow a school to
place a child in a less restrictive environment in which he or she makes little or no
progress towards appropriate educational goals.

id.; see also 92 NAC § 008.01. “It is appropriate under the IDEA to place a student in a less
integrated setting when ‘the handicapped child would not benefit from mainstreaming,” when ‘any
marginal benefits received from mainstreaming are far outweighed by the benefits gained from
services which could not feasibly be provided in the non-segregated setting,” and when ‘the
handicapped child is a disruptive force in the non-segregated setting.”” Id. at 892 (quoting Pachl,
453 F.3d at 1068).

2 A less integrated/more restrictive settin
IDEA

Based on a preponderance of the evidence, all of these factors support ACP as-
LRE. -receives minimal, if any, benefit from mainstreaming. The evidence demonstrated
-did better in the resource room and other smaller settings in which she received more direct
support and one-on-one instruction than she did in the general education classroom.-himself
repeatedly asked -pend less time in the general education classroom and more time in
resource, acknowledging she did better outside the general education classroom. In fact,-
was self-selecting environments other than her general education classroom by acting out and
disrupting the other students to the point where she was often removed. Even when she does spend
time in the general education classroom, she struggles to stay on task and is not working on the
same academic material as her general education peers. Moreover, she does not model or interact

with her peers.
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The evidence also demonstrated ACP offers- substantial benefits, which she can
only get in ACP, that outweigh any benefits she may get from mainstreaming. ACP is its own
classroom, so there will be fewer transitions fo-something she has and continues to
struggle with. ACP offers a smaller student to teacher ratio, which would allow an adult to work
more consistently with-on things like using her communication device. ACP classrooms
are designed to provide more structure and are staffed with teachers and others who have received
targeted training in behavior interventions and ABA principles, which both of Petitioners’ experts
advocated as part of-educational program. Martinelli explained the benefits most
succinctly when she testified ACP would give - “that is difficult to replicate, even with all
of the things that have been implemented right now, would be an environment that is structured
better to meet her learning needs”; staff that “are trained and have experience with supporting
those types of learning needs”; more “focus on adaptive skills, which-is struggling with,
as well as functional academics™; and “the opportunity to be more independent.” All of the OPS
members of the Saddlebrook IEP team, most of whom have worked with- regularly for
some time, agreed while she has made some progress at Saddlebrook, she could make more
progress in ACP.

Finally, the evidence showed-can be disruptive in the general education classroom.
Even Dr. Harris, Petitioners’ expert witness who had never mel-but based her opinions off
of I'l documents she reviewed, recognized based on the information in those documents-
challenging behaviors could be disruptive in a general education classroom.

Some of the evidence presented in the hearing indicated because-already spends
such a minimal amount of time in the general education classroom, ACP would not be a more

restrictive environment. But even if ACP were more restrictive, a preponderance of the evidence
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supports OPS’s conclusion the benefit of maintaining a more integrated placement for -at
Saddlebrook is outweighed by the benefits available to her with ACP. See J.P. by Ogden v. Belton
Sch. Dist. No. 124, 40 F.4th 887, 894 (8th Cir. 2022). In other words, even if- current
placement at Saddlebrook were “a less restrictive environment on the placement continuum, the
IDEA does not allow the school to sacrifice [her] access to a FAPE to have [her] in a more
integrated setting.” Id.

Petitioners agreed with the decision to place -in ACP in April 2023 and were
afforded a full opportunity to participate in the decision-making process. -ater relayed he
no longer wanted - in the ACP program. While Petitioners desire to return -to
Saddlebrook—a school with which they are familiar and trust—is understandable, it does not
outweigh the evidence supporting ACP as the appropriate placement for- The “IDEA
mandates individualized ‘appropriate’ education for disabled children, it does not require a school
district to provide a child with the specific educational placement that [her] parents prefer.” T.F.
v. Special Sch. Dist. of St. Louis Cnty., 449 F.3d 816, 821 (8th Cir. 2006) (quoting Blackmon v.
Springfield R—-XII Sch. Dist., 198 F.3d 648, 658 (8th Cir.1999)). Doing what Petitioners request:
continue at Saddlebrook with more resource time and less and less general education time would
violate IDEA’s LRE requirement as the data does not support anything other than ACP.

3. Respondent has met its obligations under the [DEA in addressina-
behaviors

- Petitioners’ primary argument Respondent erred in determining ACP was-least
restrictive environment is OPS has failed to sufficiently address-behaviors, which, they
say, is what has impeded her progress at Saddlebrook. (Amended Petition at Y 53 and 54) They
criticize the form of the Behavioral Assessment and Intervention Plan in the IEPs. (Amended

Petition at § 53.a. and 53.b. (“Crucially, OPS left blank the section for ‘Replacement Behavior(s)”
44



... [and the] section for ‘Behavioral Goal and Objectives...”””)) During the hearing, Petitioners’
experts advocated for the implementation of ABA into -school day, and Dr. Higgins
testified -2023 IEPs were not reasonably calculated to enable her to make progress on
behavior that was impeding her learning.?

Under the IDEA, IEP teams are required to consider positive behavioral interventions
where appropriate. 20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(3)(B)(i)). However, “[i]t is ‘largely irrelevant® if the
school district could have employed ‘more positive behavior interventions’ as long as it made a
‘good faith effort’ to help the student achieve the educational goals outlined in [her] [EP.” M. M.
v. Dist. 0001 Lancaster Cnty. Sch., 702 F.3d 479, 487 (8th Cir. 2012) (quoting CJN v. Minneapolis
Pub. Sch., 323 F.3d 630, 639 (8th Cir. 2003)). A preponderance of the evidence demonstrates
Respondent did that here.

Dr. Higgins criticized Respondent’s efforts to address -behaviors based only on
the IEPs themselves, with no information about how they were implemented or how- has

133

responded to Respondent’s various efforts. However, “‘[a]n [EP is a snapshot, not a retrospective,’
and we must ‘take into account what was, and was not, objectively reasonable when the snapshot
was taken, that is, at the time the IEP was promulgated.”” K.E. ex rel. K.E. v. Indep. Sch. Dist. No.
15,647 F.3d 795, 808 (8th Cir. 2011) (quoting Roland M. v. Concord Sch. Comm., 910 F.2d 983,
992 (1st Cir.1990), cert. denied, 499 U.S. 912, 111 S.Ct. 1122, 113 L.Ed.2d 230 (1991)). The

witnesses who regularly work with and observe-testiﬂed about all of the actions they have

2 Dr. Higgins also testiﬁedq2023 IEPs did not “set forth appropriate plans for-o
pursue academic and functional advancement” because the goals and assessments wer:
insufficient and 2023 IEPs were not “based on peer-reviewed research or evidence-
based practices.” (Tr. Vol. 1, 246:12-247:1) These issues were not raised in the original,
amended, or supplemental petition and therefore will not be decided in this matter. 92 NAC § 55-
007.01B; see also Tr. Vol. 11, 15:6-8.

45



taken to help curb-behaviors and why they felt those behaviors had been addressed as

well as they could at Saddlebrook and could be better addressed in ACP. Gunderson explained

why-increasing behaviors despite the Saddlebrook team’s efforts to address them actually
supported the decision to place her in ACP.

The evidence at the hearing did not present a situation in which “no cohesive plan was in
place to meet -behavioral needs,” like in Steckelberg v. Chamberlain School District,
77 F4th 1167, 1170 (8th Cir. 2023), where the IEP team did not consider a behavior support plan
and set near-perfect compliance expectations for the student. Nor were the facts similar to Neosho
R-V Sch. Dist. v. Clark, 315 F.3d 1022, 1028 (8th Cir. 2003), where the IEP team never adopted a
cohesive behavior management plan “in spite of the fact that [the student’s] behavior problem was
the major concern at every I[EP meeting.”

In contrast, for -a behavior coach was brought in almost immediately after she

began - to work with the Saddlebrook staff on how to address- behaviors. The
[EP team gathered mid-way through--year, two months before her annual

IEP was due, to add an FBA and BIP to her IEP. -)PS team has worked with her to teach
her replacement behaviors, to “minimize[e] triggers [or antecedents] for her,” and to teach her to
communicate her needs.” They have gathered and relied on data of her behavior and have
documented antecedents to her behaviors in an attempt to better understand the antecedents and
functions so they can redirect her to desired behaviors. A preponderance of the evidence showed
OPS adequately considered behavioral interventions and strategies and implemented an
appropriate behavior intervention plan for - “The District’s strategies, while they might
have been imperfect, complied with the IDEA.” Parrish v. Bentonville Sch. Dist., 896 F.3d 889,

895 (8th Cir. 2018)
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With respect to Petitioners’ experts’ advocacy for the implementation of ABA into
- IEPs, courts have consistently rejected the proposition that an ABA program is the only
effective method of instruction for autistic students. R. E. B. v. Dep’t of Educ., 770 F. App’x 796,
801 (9th Cir. 2019) (holding that specifying ABA in the [EP was not necessary, crediting the
teachers’ belief that “it was best to use multiple teaching methodologies” so they could “select the
methodology that best fit [the student’s] needs as they arose™); Deal ex rel. Deal v. Hamilton Cnty.
Dep’t of Educ., No. 1:01-CV-295, 2006 WL 5667836, at *16—18 (E.D. Tenn. Apr. 3, 2006), aff'd
sub nom. Deal v. Hamilton Cnty. Dep’t of Educ., 258 F. App’x 863 (6th Cir. 2008)(providing
comprehensive summary of decisions discussing ABA). “Although an IEP team must ‘consider’
the results of outside evaluations,” such as those conducted by Tejral, “not all such
recommendations need be adopted.” M M., 702 F.3d at 487.

Moreover, - February 2023 and April 2023 JEPs committed to using behavioral
interventions consistent with ABA principles, and witnesses testified such behavioral interventions
were in fact used with- For example, Tejral testified she observed OPS staff using behavior
interventions with -—she just recommended it could be done more consistently. Such
testimony does not support a finding Respondent violated the IDEA. See Elizabeth B. by & through
Donald B. v. El Paso Cnty. Sch. Dist. 11, 841 F. App’x 40, 43 (10th Cir. 2020) (finding ABA was

not required but the IEP nonetheless “committed to one-on-one ABA-guided instruction ‘using

9 3

other terms,’” which was sufficient to be “‘reasonably calculated to deliver [the student] a
FAPE.”); Renee J. as Next Friend of C.J. v. Houston Indep. Sch. Dist., 913 F.3d 523, 530 (5th Cir.
2019) (“Both sides agree that although [the school district] does not expressly provide Applied

Behavioral Analysis, it incorporates techniques from ABA and other methods into its approach.”)
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Petitioners’ suggestions for addressing-ehaviors—made in hindsight, only after
they filed their due process petition—do not establish -vvas denied FAPE and the decision
to place her in ACP violated the IDEA. “A FAPE does not necessarily fit precise parental
preferences, maximize a student’s potential, or provide the best possible education at public
expense.” D. L. by Landon v. St. Louis City Sch. Dist., 950 F.3d 1057, 1064 (8th Cir. 2020). “The
school is not required to provide an optimal experience for a student with a disability, but instead
must simply provide the student with a FAPE consistent with the IEP.” Kass v. W. Dubuque Cmty.
Sch. Dist., 101 F.4th 562, 570 (8th Cir. 2024). Respondent did that here and appropriately
determined - needed more than she could receive in her educational program at

Saddlebrook—that she needed ACP.

N. -‘then-current placement” in January 2024 was ACP

The “stay-put” or “pendency” provision of the IDEA requires the student remain in the

“then-current educational placement” pending the resolution of the dispute at issue. 42 U.S.C.
§1415(k). In December 2023, Petitioners filed a motion for stay-put placement, arguing -
then-current educational placement was Saddlebrook. (See Petitioners’ Motion for Enforcement
of Stay-Put Placement, filed with the Nebraska Department of Education on December 27, 2023)
Respondent opposed, disputing-then-currem educational placement, for purposes of the
pendency requirement, was Saddlebrook. (See Respondents’ Opposition to Petitioners’ Motion for
Enforcement of Stay-Put Placement, filed with the Nebraska Department of Education on January
4,2024) Submitted as evidence related to this motion were - October 2023 IEP ( Ex. 18);
an October 12-23, 2023 email exchange between-and Saldierna (Ex. 19); an October 22,
2023 email from Pereira (Ex. 121); an affidavit signed by Saldierna; and-attendance

record for the 2023 fall semester reflecting she had attended Prairie Wind from approximately
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August 16, 2023, to September 4, 2023. (See exhibits to Petitioners’ Motion for Enforcement of
Stay-Put Placement and exhibits to Respondents’ Opposition to Petitioners’ Motion for
Enforcement of Stay-Put Placement) Based on this limited evidentiary record, this Hearing Officer
determined thf: last agreed-upon educational placement for- was “alternative curriculum
instruction at her home school, Saddlebrook Elementary.” (See Order for Stay-Put Placement, filed
with the Nebraska Department of Education on January 10, 2024)

Based on the more complete record presented at the hearing, a preponderance of the
evidence demonstrates-then-current educational placement, as of the date the initial
petition was filed on November 30, 2023, was, in fact, OPS’s ACP, which is not offered at
Saddlebrook. In general, under the IDEA, a student’s “educational placement” is distinct from the
“location” at which the student will receive educational services.

A placement is not a place, but a program of educational services offered to a

student with a disability. A placement also refers to a point along the child’s

continuum of placement options, while a location is the physical location where the
child receives services, such as a classroom.

Anchorage School District, 72 IDELR 106, 118 LRP 21106 (ASEA March 22, 2018) (quoting
Letter to Fisher, 21 IDELR 992 (OSEP July 6, 1994)). Simply put, “[t]he term ‘placement’ ... is
not synonymous with ‘place....”” Michael C. ex rel Stephen C. v. Radnor Twp. Sch. Dist., No. C.A.
98-4690, 1999 WL 89675, at *3 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 4, 1999), aff’d sub nom. Michael C. ex rel. Stephen
C. v. Radnor Twp. Sch. Dist., 202 F.3d 642 (3d Cir. 2000).

It is not surprising, therefore, most courts have interpreted the term “educational
placement” in the stay-put context to mean the type of program the student is receiving as opposed
to a specific school or classroom. For example, in AW ex rel. Wilson v. Fairfax Cnty. Sch. Bd., 372
F.3d 674, 682 (4th Cir. 2004), the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals found the school district had

not violated the student’s stay-put placement by transferring him to another school. The court
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F.3d 412, 419 (2d Cir. 2009) (“[T]he term ‘educational placement’ in the regulations ‘refers only

999

to the general type of educational program in which the child is placed.’””) (quoting Concerned
Parentsv. N.Y. City Bd. of Educ., 629 F.2d 751, 756 (2d Cir.1980)); Veazey v. Ascension Par. Sch.
Bd., 121 F. App’x 552, 553 (5th Cir. 2005) (“[A] change in the particular school site at which a
disabled student’s [IEP] is implemented does not constitute a change in ‘educational placement.’”);
J.M. v. Miller Creek Sch. Dist., No. 22-CV-06105-DMR, 2023 WL 8125286, at *8 (N.D. Cal. Nov.
22, 2023) (finding no change in educational placement occurred because the student “stay[ed] in
the same classification, same school district, and same educational program.”); J.S. by & through
v. Eugene Sch. Dist. 4J,No. 6:21-CV-01430-MK, 2023 WL 4628182, at *6 (D. Or. May 19, 2023),
report and recommendation adopted sub nom. J.S by & through S.S. v. Eugene Sch. Dist. 4J, No.
6:21-CV-01430-MK, 2023 WL 4626610 (D. Or. July 19, 2023) (“While a change in educational
location or program management is allowed under the IDEA, an impermissible change in
placement occurs when the components of a student’s previous IEP services are altered
significantly.”). Indeed, “[c]ourts addressing the question have overwhelmingly determined that a
change in location of services, on its own, is not a fundamental change in the educational program
and therefore, not a change in education placement under the IDEA.” Gore v. D.C., 67 F. Supp.
3d 147, 153 (D.D.C. 2014).

Of course, location can be a component of a student’s educational placement, but only
when the location substantially or materially affects the composition of the educational program
and services provided to the child, which is not the case for-with Saddlebrook. For example,
in AW ex rel. Wilson, the Fourth Circuit explained:

T.o the extent that a new setting replicates the educational program contemplated

by the student’s original assignment and is consistent with the principles of

“mainstreaming” and affording access to a FAPE, the goal of protecting the
student’s “educational placement” served by the “stay-put” provision appears to be
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district—not part of the student’s “educational placement.” Deer Valley Unified Sch. Dist. v. L.P.
ex rel. Schripsema, 942 F. Supp. 2d 880, 887 (D. Ariz. 2013).

With respect to.there was no evidence presented at the hearing a location other
than Saddlebrook would have diluted or even affected- educational program and services.
For example, in R.B. ex rel. Parent v. Mastery Charter Sch., 762 F. Supp. 2d 745 (E.D. Pa. 2010),
aff"d sub nom. R.B. v. Mastery Charter Sch., 532 F. App’x 136 (3d Cir. 2013), the parents provided
evidence the particular school the student had been attending was part of her educational placement
because: 1) its proximity to her house mitigated her difficulty getting to school, 2) it provided
needed access to her doctor’s office in the case of a medical emergency, 3) it was smaller and
easier for her to navigate because of her familiarity with the location, and 4) it had very small
classes, providing her with “lots of individual attention.” Id. at 763.

In contrast, the evidence presented at the hearing demonstrated just the opposite—that
because Saddlebrook does not have ACP, which is the appropriate placement for- keeping
her at Saddlebrook is what has diluted -educational program and services. Moreover, the
[EP in place at the time Petitioners filed their original petition—i.e., the October 2023 IEP—
concluded the “academic, developmental, and functional needs” of -required “[t]he
alternative curriculum program,” which it described as “a modified instructional program [that]
will include a structured setting, visual and verbal cues, repeated instruction and directions,
extended time, choice making activities and manipulatives.” Pereira testified this meant the current
program she was in at Prairie Wind, i.e. ACP. Moreover, it makes sense the Prairie Wind IEP
team did not reverse the Saddlebrook IEP team’s decision -educational placement should
be ACP, given that the Prairic Wind team did not have sufficient data to do so, with -

attending school at Prairie Wind for only 17 days. Similar to the situation in J.S. v. D.C., No. CV
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21-0293 (CKK), 2021 WL 1428998, at *7 (D.D.C. Apr. 15, 2021), Saddlebrook, “a school that
cannot implement the IEP” in place at the time Petitioners filed their original petition in the fall of
2023, could not be-‘then-current placement.”

That Saddlebrook is -home school does not affect the analysis. “[F]or provision
of services to an IDEA student, a school system may designate a school other than a neighborhood
school.” White ex rel. White v. Ascension Par. Sch. Bd., 343 F.3d 373, 381-82 (5th Cir. 2003) (“no
federal appellate court has recognized a right to a neighborhood school assignment under the
[IDEA”); see also, McLaughlin v. Holt Public Sch. Bd. of Educ., 320 F.3d 663, 672 (6th Cir.2003)
(LRE provisions and regulations do not mandate placement in neighborhood school); Kevin G. by
Robert G. v. Cranston Sch. Comm., 130 F.3d 481, 482 (1st Cir.1997) (“[ W]hile it may be preferable
for [student] to attend a school located minutes from his home,” the school district was “not
required to change the district’s placement of nurses when, as in this case, care is readily available
at another easily accessible school”.); Hudson v. Bloomfield Hills Public Sch., 108 F.3d 112 (6th
Cir.1997) (IDEA does not require placement in neighborhood school); Urban v. Jefferson County
Sch. Dist. R—1, 89 F.3d 720, 727 (10th Cir.1996) (IDEA does not give student a right to placement
at a neighborhood school); Schuldt ex rel. Schuldt v. Mankato Indep. Sch. Dist. No. 77, 937 F.2d
1357, 1361-63 (8th Cir.1991) (school may place student in non-neighborhood school rather than
require physical modification of the neighborhood school to accommodate the child’s disability);
Wilson v. Marana Unified Sch. Dist. No. 6 of Pima County, 735 F.2d 1178 (9th Cir.1984) (school
district may assign child to school 30 minutes away because teacher certified in child’s disability
was assigned there, rather than move the service to the neighborhood school). Respondent has

significant authority to select the school site, as long as it is educationally appropriate. The Office

54



of Special Education Programs (OSEP), the Department of Education branch charged with
monitoring and enforcing the IDEA and its implementing regulations, has explained:
[1]f a public agency ... has two or more equally appropriate locations that meet the
child’s special education and related services needs, the assignment of a particular

school ... may be an administrative determination, provided that the determination
is consistent with the placement team’s decision.

Letter from Office of Special Education Programs to Paul Veazey (26 Nov. 2001); see also, e.g,
Letter to Anonymous, 21 IDELR 674 (OSEP 1994) (it is permissible for a student with a disability
to be transferred to a school other than the school closest to home if the transfer school continues
to be appropriate to meet the individual needs of the student); Letter to Fisher, 21 IDELR 992
(OSEP 1994) (citing policy letter indicating that assignment of a particular location is an
administrative decision). For all of these reasons, based on a preponderance of the evidence, this
Hearing Officer ﬁnds-hen-current educational placement as of November 30, 2024, was
ACP, which is not offered at Saddlebrook.

0. Respondent did not denv-FAPE in the fall of 2023

Not only did Respondent not deny- FAPE because of its decision in April 2023 to
place her in ACP, it also did not deny her FAPE, as Petitioners claim, by “fail[ing] to respond to
Petitioners’ numerous requests for assistance in finding a safe, appropriate placement” for her and
its subsequent “refusal to effectuate the educational placement-lEP team decided upon
on October 9, 2023.” First, Respondent did respond promptly to Petitioners’ requests. Petitioners
first emailed about their concerns for -afety at Prairie Wind on a Friday evening;
Respondent responded to that email and also had a call with Petitioners the next business day.
Respondent immediately offered Petitioners instructions on how to request a transfer to a different
ACP classroom. That Respondent did not immediately offer the outcome Petitioners wanted—for

-to return to Saddlebrook—does not mean it violated the IDEA.
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Respondent has conceded - IEP team erred in October 2023 when it indicated to
Petitioners-could return to Saddlebrook. Pereira testified the team was primarily focused
on getting-back into school and was swayed by the parents’ strong emotional desire for

-to return to Saddlebrook. However, “[t]he IDEA does not require that parental preferences
guide educational decisions, ... only that parental preferences are considered and addressed.” Kass

v. W. Dubuque Cmty. Sch. Dist., 101 F.4th 562, 570 (8th Cir. 2024) (internal quotations and

citations omitted). As already indicated, the “educational placement” identified for by the
October 2023 IEP was ACP. Respondent’s error, then, was in communicating to
could receive “an alternate curriculum” at Saddlebrook. Nonetheless, Respondent quickly
remedied this error four days later when it offered to place-in the ACP classroom at Oak
Valley, a school that was very similar to Saddlebrook and in whic-ou]d have been placed

within a day or two. Respondent continued to engage with -about -placement,

scheduling an IEP meeting for December 1, 2023. Nonetheless,-refused any offer by
Respondent to place-in an ACP classroom and chose to keep -at home. A school
district does not violate the IDEA if it offers FAPE but the parents decline. See, e.g., J.B. v. Kyrene
Elementary Sch. Dist. No. 28, 112 F.4th 1156, 1164-1166 (9th Cir. 2024) (petitioners’ “rejection
of [the final] FAPE offer ... relieved the District of any IDEA obligations,” particularly where the
record indicated it was unlikely petitioners would have considered another FAPE offer as an
alternative to what they wanted). Here, any deprivation of educational benefits to- in the
fall of 2023 was not due to Respondent’s actions but Petitioners’ choice to refuse any option other
than Saddlebrook. Respondent met its obligations under the IDEA by offering FAPE.

P. Respondent did not violate the IDEA with respect to Petitioners’ request for an IEE

In their supplemental petition, Petitioners argue Respondent violated the IDEA with
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respect to their request for an IEE. First, they argue they “repeatedly asked OPS for its ‘criteria
applicable for independent educational evaluations’ as required by 34 C.F.R. § 300.502(a)(2)” but
OPS “refused to provide any criteria at all.” (Supplemental Petition at §13) They also allege
Respondents refused an evaluator based on criteria that had been repeatedly requested but never
provided and provided the name of one provider who had a conflict of interest. /d. Finally, they
allege Respondent denied -APE when it refused to consider the behavioral evaluation
conducted by CAS. (Supplemental Petition at §14) These allegations were not supported by a
preponderance of the evidence and/or do not amount to an IDEA violation.

1. Respondent did not violate the IDEA by refusing to provide its criteria for the [EE

Under the interpreting regulations for the IDEA, “[e]ach public agency must provide to
parents, upon request for an [IEE], information about where an [IEE] may be obtained, and the
agency criteria applicable for [IEEs] ....” 34 C.F.R. § 300.502(a)(2). The reason for this
requirement is because “[i]f an independent educational evaluation is at public expense, the criteria
under which the evaluation is obtained, including the location of the evaluation and the
qualifications of the examiner, must be the same as the criteria that the public agency uses when it
initiates an evaluation, to the extent those criteria are consistent with the parent’s right to an
independent educational evaluation.” 34 C.F.R. § 300.502(c)(1).

-did ask, in his initial request for an IEE, for “official documentation of the school
district’s criteria for [EEs”, but there was no evidence OPS refused to provide its criteria. Rather,
Saldierna responded with two lists of approved providers-could contact to schedule the
IEE: one that identified “approved providers for psychological evaluations” and the other, a list of
BCBAs in case-“prefer[ed] a BCBA [to do] the FBA over a psychologist.” In doing so,

OPS communicated to -the “criteria” a psychologist would need to perform any
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“psychological evaluations” and a BCBA could conduct the FBA.-contacted a couple of
providers on that list and appears to have had trouble scheduling an IEE with those providers, but
there was no evidence the trouble was caused by OPS at all, let alone any issue with respect to its
criteria for IEEs.

In addition, Saldierna told-in response to his request for the IEE, if “there [was] a
provider not on” the lists she sent him, to let her know and she would “check to see if they are
appropriately certified/licensed.” Respondent did, in accordance with 34 CFR § 300.502(e)(1) and
92 NAC § 51-006.071, refuse to authoriz-request in late April 2023 to have Dr. Higgins

conduct some parts of the IEE because, as indicated in Saldierna’s response to -request

for an IEE, OPS does not have BCBAs conduct assessments other than the FBA. -never
asked Saldierna to identify any other providers who may be able to provide the IEE. For all of
these reasons, there was no procedural violation in Respondent’s response to Petitioners’ request
for an IEE.

Even if arguendo Respondent had violated the procedures laid out in 34 C.F.R. §
300.502(a)(2), a hearing officer may find a violation of the IDEA only if a procedural violation
“(I) impeded the child’s right to a free appropriate public education; (II) significantly impeded the
parents’ opportunity to participate in the decision-making process regarding the provision of a free
appropriate public education to the parents’ child; or (IIT) caused a deprivation of educational
benefits.” Winkelman v. Parma City Sch. Dist., 550 U.S. 516, 525-26 (2007). Petitioners presented
no evidence any potential procedural violation in Respondent’s communications about its criteria
for an IEE resulted in a denial of FAPE for - impeded Petitioners’ oppbrtunity to participate

in the decision-making process regarding FAPE for-or caused a deprivation of benefits.
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Saldierna testified she followed the same process with - she follows in response to
every request for IEEs submitted to OPS and has never before had similar issues in getting an IEE
scheduled. In fact, other OPS students were able to schedule an IEE during this same time period.
Moreover, despite it being a deviation from OPS’s typical process, Saldierna provided
authorization letters for-o provide directly to providers containing the specific language
he requested, and still Petitioners had not schedule.for any part of the IEE other than the
FBA and BIP prepared by CAS. Thus, any procedural violation is not actionable under the IDEA.
See, e.g., HL. b/n/fR.L. v. Allen Indep. Sch. Dist., No. 4:21-CV-749-SDJ, 2023 WL 8700535, at
*15 (E.D. Tex. Dec. 15, 2023), aff'd sub nom. H. L. v. Allen Indep. Sch. Dist., No. 24-40029, 2024
WL 4457459 (Sth Cir. Oct. 10, 2024) (school district’s procedural error in unnecessarily delaying
its response to parents’ request for an IEE was “not actionable” where “plaintiffs failed to show
that a delayed FBA IEE caused a deprivation of educational benefit” to the student).

2 Respondent did not violate the IDEA by refusing to consider the FBA and BIP
prepared by CAS

Petitioners also criticize OPS for refusing to meet with Tejral from CAS to consider the
FBA and BIP she prepared when-requested it in July 2024. Respondent did not refuse to
meet with CAS but rather indicated it wished for the entire IEE to be completed before it met with
CAS. Saldierna testified, based on her experience with other IEEs, she assumed the IEE would be
complete by August.

Petitioners argue they never agreed to an IEE that would include more than the FBA, saying
that Respondent’s assertion the parties’ agreement was for a complete IEE is “without evidence.”
(Supplemental Petition at § 9) On the contrary, a preponderance of the evidence, demonstrates
Respondent was reasonable in believing the agreement between the parties, upon which the

hearing in this matter was delayed, was for an IEE that would be comprehensive—not one limited
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to an FBA.

While- formal request for an IEE specified he wanted an FBA, the motion to
continue the hearing, filed jointly by the parties prior to-submitting his formal request,
stated the parties had agreed to the continuance “to allow time” for the parties “to pursue an
independent educational evaluation (“IEE”) of -” It said nothing of an FBA. In addition,

-formal request indicated the IEE was “fo include a functional behavioral assessment
(FBA) and an assistive technology evaluation”—not be limited to those assessments. (emphasis
added) The formal request also said the reason for the request was tha-‘disagree[d] with
the district’s most recent evaluation of -because it was not comprehensive...” (emphasis in
original) Cf. 34 CFR § 300.502(b)(1) (“A parent has the right to an independent educational
evaluation at public expense if the parent disagrees with an evaluation obtained by the public
agency...”) (emphasis added); 92 NAC § 51- 006.07 (. Finally, an “evaluation,” in the context of
an IEE, “means a comprehensive assessment of the child™ that assesses “the child in all areas of
their disability,” whereas an FBA is an *“assessment tool”—not an “evaluation.” D.S. v. Trumbull
Bd. of Ed., 975 F.3d 152 (2d Cir. 2020). Petitioners” own expert, Dr. Higgins, agreed. Respondent
therefore did not violate the IDEA by not immediately convening an IEP team meeting to consider
CAS’s FBA and BIP.

Even if Petitioners had proved Respondent should have immediately scheduled an IEP
team meeting to review the FBA and BIP from CAS rather than waiting for a comprehensive IEE
to be completed, there is no evidence Respondent’s failure to do so resulted in a denial of FAPE
to -Her IEP team met on November 4, 2024, and offered Petitioners three days later a new
IEP incorporating much of CAS’s recommended BIP. Petitioners never agreed (or even responded)

to that new IEP. Accordingly, there is no evidence they would have agreed to such an IEP,
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including a BIP that adopted CAS’s recommendations, had it been presented to them at an earlier
date. This is evidenced by Petitioner’s second stay put request overruled by this hearing officer
pertaining to Respondent’s desire to hold an IEP meeting for - Accordingly, even if
Respondent had committed a procedural violation of the IDEA in refusing to consider the BIP
from CAS earlier, there would be no violation of the IDEA because its actions caused no

deprivation of benefits.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED AS FOLLOWS:

1. Petitioners failed to meet their burden of proving Respondent violated the Least
Restrictive Environment requirements of the IDEA and Rule 51 or failed to provide a free
appropriate public education to- in accordance with federal and state law and applicable
regulations.

2. The Hearing Officer’s January 10, 2024, Order for Stay-Put Placement is vacated.
-last agreed-upon educational placement at the time Petitioners filed their original Petition
on November 30, 2023, was ACP, which is not offered at Saddlebrook. Selection of the particular
school at which-s offered this educational placement is an administrative decision to be
made by Respondent.

5 The Petitioner’s Special Education Petition is dismissed as it relates to Chapter 55
of Title 92 of the Nebraska Administrative Code, the Nebraska Special Education Act, Neb. Rev.
Stat. § 79-1110 et seq., and The Individuals with Disabilities in Education Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1400
et seq.

4, Subject matter jurisdiction is lacking to address Petitioners’ claims pursuant to the

Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. Said claims
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